
 

 

1. ADDRESS OF HISTORIC RESOURCE (must comply with an Office of Property Assessment address) 

  Street address:__________________________________________________________________ 

  Postal code:_______________   

  

 

 2. NAME OF HISTORIC RESOURCE 

  Historic Name:__________________________________________________________________ 

  Current/Common Name:___________________________________________________________ 

 

 

3. TYPE OF HISTORIC RESOURCE 

   Building   Structure   Site   Object 

 

 

4. PROPERTY INFORMATION  

  Condition:  excellent  good  fair   poor  ruins 

  Occupancy:  occupied  vacant  under construction   unknown 

  Current use:____________________________________________________________________ 

  

  

5. BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION  

See attached. 

  

 

6. DESCRIPTION   

See attached. 

 

 

7. SIGNIFICANCE   

Please attach a narrative Statement of Significance citing the Criteria for Designation the resource satisfies. 

Period of Significance (from year to year): from _________ to _________ 

  Date(s) of construction and/or alteration:______________________________________________ 

  Architect, engineer, and/or designer:_________________________________________________ 

  Builder, contractor, and/or artisan:___________________________________________________ 

  Original owner:__________________________________________________________________ 

 Other significant persons:__________________________________________________________

4017-21 Chestnut Street 

 19104 

New Tabernacle Baptist Church 

Christ Community Church of Philadelphia 

2004 1896 

1896-7 

Frank R. Watson, architect 

George W. Stewart, contractor 

Berean Baptist Church, New Tabernacle Baptist Church, Chestnut Street Baptist Church 

Rev. George E. Rees 

Religious/Church 



CRITERIA FOR DESIGNATION : 

The historic resource satisfies the following criteria for designation (check all that apply): 

 (a) Has significant character, interest or value as part of the development, heritage or cultural characteristics 

of the City, Commonwealth or Nation or is associated with the life of a person significant in the past; or, 

 (b) Is associated with an event of importance to the history of the City, Commonwealth or Nation; or, 

 (c) Reflects the environment in an era characterized by a distinctive architectural style; or, 

 (d) Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style or engineering specimen; or, 

 (e) Is the work of a designer, architect, landscape architect or designer, or engineer whose work has 

significantly influenced the historical, architectural, economic, social, or cultural development of the City, 

Commonwealth or Nation; or, 

 (f) Contains elements of design, detail, materials or craftsmanship which represent a significant innovation; 

or, 

 (g) Is part of or related to a square, park or other distinctive area which should be preserved according to an 

historic, cultural or architectural motif; or, 

 (h) Owing to its unique location or singular physical characteristic, represents an established and familiar 

visual feature of the neighborhood, community or City; or, 

 (i) Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in pre-history or history; or 

 (j) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the community. 
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5. BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 

 

 
Figure 1. Aerial image of 4017-21 Chestnut Street; while one parcel, each ñpiece of groundò indicated in the deed is delineated 

separately on Philadelphiaôs Atlas interface. [atlas.phila.gov] 

 

 

ALL THAT CERTAIN lot or piece of ground with the Church edifice or meeting house thereon 

erected, SITUATE on the North side of Chestnut Street at the distance of 240 feet Westward from 

the West side of 40
th
 Street in the 27

th
 Ward of the City of Philadelphia. 

 

CONTAINING in front or breadth on the said Chestnut Street 60 feet and extending of that width 

in length or depth Northwardly at right angles with the said Chestnut Street 133 feet 6 inches, 

bounded on the North and East by ground hereinafter described and conveyed on the South by the 

said Chestnut Street and on the West by lot marked No. 7 in the plan of Hamilton Village lots. 

 

ALSO ALL THAT CERTAIN lot or piece of ground situate on the North side of Chestnut Street 

West of 40
th
 Street in the said Ward and City adjoining the above mentioned lot and said Church 

Edifice on the East 40 feet front on Chestnut Street and in length or depth Northward 130 feet 

more or less to the premises next hereinafter described together with the stone messuage or 

dwelling house thereon erected. 

 

BEING known as 4017-21 Chestnut Street 

 

BEING the same premises which The Chestnut Street Baptist Church of Philadelphia, a 

Pennsylvania Non-Profit Corporation by Deed dated 5/4/2004 and recorded 5/27/2004 in 

Philadelphia County as Document No. 50936033 conveyed unto West Park Church of 

Deliverance Association, in fee.
1
  

                                                           
1
 City of Philadelphia, Department of Records. Document  No. 52961954. 3 September 2015. PhilaDOX: http://pdx-

app01/recorder/eagleweb/docSearch.jsp. Accessed 4 November 2019. 

http://pdx-app01/recorder/eagleweb/docSearch.jsp
http://pdx-app01/recorder/eagleweb/docSearch.jsp


6. PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION  

Christ Community Church, historically known as New Tabernacle Baptist Church, is situated on the north 

side of Chestnut Street between 40
th
 and 41

st
 Streets in the University City neighborhood of West 

Philadelphia. It is located one-and-a-half blocks southwest of the Market-Frankford Line. Chestnut Street 

is an eastbound thoroughfare running three-and-a-half miles long in West Philadelphia, from Cobbs Creek 

Park to the Schuylkill River, and continues across the Chestnut Street bridge for approximately two miles 

to the Delaware River. 

 

Figure 2. Oblique aerial image of 4017-21 Chestnut Street, currently in use as Christ Community Church. [Pictometry, 2018] 

 

Surrounding buildings in the area include late nineteenth-century attached and semi-detached rowhouses, 

early twentieth century apartment buildings, nineteenth-century churches, and twentieth-century 

commercial and civic structures. Its proximity to the University of Pennsylvania is not to be understated. 

While 4017-21 Chestnut Street is on the western fringe of campus, Penn owns several properties along 

40
th
 and Chestnut Streets, many students live in off-campus housing in the neighborhood, and the campus 

is within walking distance.  



 

Figure 3. Map of the University of Pennsylvania campus. The location of New Tabernacle Baptist Church is indicated by the red 

star. [Penn Facilities & Real Estate] 

The National Register of Historic Places nomination for the West Philadelphia Streetcar Suburb Historic 

District includes this building as a contributing resource. Its inventory describes 4017-21 Chestnut Street 

as follows (emphasis added): 

Massive, elaborately ornamented Gothic Revival church with a strong urban character. The 

wide gable-roofed sanctuary is framed by three arched entranceways framed by triple colonettes. 

The walls are treated with rock-faced gneiss with limestone trim, large central pointed-arch 

window with stained glass; the roof is sheathed with slate, and the walls of the transepts visible 

from the street are capped with a corbel table motif in stamped copper. The large, impressive 

sanctuary interior is intact and features elaborate plaster ceiling ornament and carved oak 

furnishings. An outstanding example of its style.
2
 

Cruciform in plan, New Tabernacle Baptist Church occupies the majority of its approximately 60ô x 130ô 

lot. The primary elevation of New Tabernacle Baptist Church faces south onto Chestnut Street. It is 

defined by a large gable flanked by two, 87-foot tall octagonal towers. The towers were originally capped 

with turrets, but these had been removed by the early 1960s. A set of full-width curved steps, flanked by 

stone bannisters, leads to the entry. Atop each bannister is an ornamental cast-iron lightpost. A tripartite 

Indiana limestone portal with gabled openings contain pointed-arch archivolts over carved wooden doors 

and tympanums. The archivolts are supported by pink marble colonettes with foliated capitals; the central 

opening has three per side while the two flanking openings have two per side. The three openings are 

divided by half-height limestone façade buttresses, and full-height stone façade buttresses extend above 

the left and right openings. The gable over the middle opening is lined with crockets and the majority of 
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 National Register of Historic Places, West Philadelphia Streetcar Suburb Historic District, Philadelphia, 

Pennsylvania, National Register #97001669. 



gabled and arched features (arches, buttresses) are topped with foliated finials. The gable contains a large 

pointed arch stained glass window recessed in a limestone archivolt and foliated capitals.  

The gable contains a large pointed arch stained glass window recessed in a limestone archivolt supported 

by foliated columns. The leaded stained glass is supported by tracery in circular and trefoil, quatrefoil, 

teardrop, and other curved patterns. Above the stained glass tracery is a corbel course and triple lancet 

stained glass window. 

 

Figure 4. South (principal) elevation of New Tabernacle Baptist Church, now in use as Christ Community Church [Arielle 

Harris, September 2019] 

The towers are divided into four sections by string and corbel courses. The bottom two sections contain 

staggered lancet windows and the top two sections contain lanceted and pointed-arch windows with 

tracery on all eight sides of the octagon. The top two sections also contain more elaborate corbeling, 

columns, and cornice stone work. 



 

Figure 5. Detail of cornerstone at eastern tower. [Arielle Harris, September 2019] 



 

Figure 6 Detail of west stair rail and ornamental lightpost [Arielle Harris, September 2019] 



 

Figure 7. Detail of central door at south elevation. [Arielle Harris, September 2019] 



 

Figure 8. Detail of secondary door and columns at south elevation. [Arielle Harris, September 2019] 

While the east and west elevations are partially obscured at street level due to adjacent buildings, they 

were accessible via vacant lots to the rear. Extending north from the two towers, these elevations are 

identical: 

A two-story, four bay nave is punctuated by lancet stained glass windows and divided by full-height stone 

buttresses. A bay window extends from the first story, replacing two lancet windows at the first floor. The 

transept features three pairs of lancet stained-glass windows at the first story, and an arrangement of three 

large lancet windows with tracery at the second story depicting the story of Jesus and the Samaritan. The 

fabricator of the stained glass is unknown, having not been reported in neither the Philadelphia Real 

Estate Record and Builderôs Guide nor the architectôs specifications or any local newspapers. The 

transept is capped with a lanceted corbel table. 



 

Figure 9. Oblique view of west elevation, looking southeast [Arielle Harris, September 2019] 



 

Figure 10. Detail of stained glass windows at east transept. The middle lancet depicts the story of Jesus and the Samaritan and 

angels in the left and right lancets. The west transept contains identical stained glass. [Arielle Harris, September 2019] 

Past the transept, in what would translate as the chancel in a Catholic church, originally housed parts of 

the baptistry and organ within the auditorium, and partially contained classrooms and meeting rooms. On 

the east and west elevations, this is clad in stone and unfenestrated. 

At the north elevation, these wings feature quoining and pairs of lanceted stained glass windows; at the 

basement level these have been filled with glass block. The north elevation is otherwise defined by a brick 

gable and one story rounded projection. A chimney extends out of the gable on the west side. The gable 

contains a single oculus window. From an oblique aerial view of the property, a pinnacle extends above 

the intersection of the transept and the nave. 

 



 
Figure 11. North elevation. [Arielle Harris, September 2019] 

 
Figure 12. Oblique view looking south at New Tabernacle Baptist Church, providing a clearer view of the north elevation. 

[Pictometry]  



7. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE  

 

The former New Tabernacle Baptist Church, currently known as Christ Community Church of 

Philadelphia, is historically significant and merits designation under Criteria for Designation (a), (d), (e), 

(h), and (j), pursuant to Section 14-1004(1) of the Philadelphia Code. It is already a contributing structure 

to the West Philadelphia Streetcar Suburb Historic District, which was added to the National Register of 

Historic Places in 1997.  

 

(a): Has significant character, interest or value as part of the development, heritage or cultural 

characteristics of the City, Commonwealth or Nation or is associated with the life of a person significant 

in the past; 

(j): Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the community. 

 

The New Tabernacle Baptist Church exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical 

heritage of the West Philadelphia Baptist community, as well as the power dynamics of Baptist 

congregations in late nineteenth-early twentieth century Philadelphia. The site on which 4017-21 

Chestnut Street sits was the former location of Berean Baptist Church, constructed in 1859-1860. In the 

late nineteenth century, Berean Baptist Church consolidated with Tabernacle Baptist Church, a 

congregation located in Rittenhouse Square. Tabernacle Baptist Church had a tumultuous 47-year history, 

stemming from inconsistent leadership, debt, fluctuating membership, and what was at the time believed 

to be an undesirable location at 18
th
 and Chestnut Streets. By the early 1890s, Tabernacle Baptist Church 

was in discussions with First Baptist Church and Eden Baptist Church, both located nearby, to consolidate 

their congregations.  

 

On the other hand, Berean Baptist Church had been growing consistently since its founding in then-semi-

rural West Philadelphia. Baptist activity grew in West Philadelphia to some degree due to the influence of 

Berean, with members creating missions and additional churches as well as merging with other West 

Philadelphia Baptist congregations. When Berean Baptist Church called upon Rev. George E. Rees, then 

pastor at Tabernacle Baptist Church, to lead their church, Rees appeared to jump at the opportunity to 

merge the two congregations, disregarding the prior arrangements with First Baptist Church and Eden 

Baptist Church. Tabernacle and Berean agreed that the Tabernacle church building would be sold and a 

new church would be erected on the Berean parcel. Perhaps Rev. Rees also saw it as a strategic move to 

relocate the consolidated church to a more fashionable location due to West Philadelphiaôs status as an 

emergent streetcar suburb and enclave for the middle class and nouveau riche. In 1910, New Tabernacle 

Baptist Church consolidated with Epiphany Baptist Church (formerly known as the First Baptist Church 

of West Philadelphia); the merged congregation, renamed the Chestnut Street Baptist Church, remained at 

4017-21 Chestnut Street until 2005. 

 

 

History of the Baptists in Philadelphia 

Baptists immigrating from Wales and England first settled in the Delaware Valley in the late seventeenth 

century. The oldest Baptist Church in the region is the Pennepek, or Lower Dublin Baptist Church; 

organized in January 1687. Pennepek was the mother church of mid-Atlantic congregations founded 

throughout the eighteenth century, including Philadelphiaôs First Baptist Church.
3
 This congregation first 
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 Horatio Gates Jones, ñHistorical Sketch of the Lower Dublin (Or Pennepek) Baptist Church,ò Philadelphia: 1869, 

Web, http://baptisthistoryhomepage.com/penn.pennepek.lower.dublin.history.html 



gathered in what was known as the ñBarbadoes Lot,ò located around Second and Chestnut Street in 

December 1698. The Philadelphia Baptist Association was founded in 1707 by five congregations ñas an 

annual meeting for mutual support in doctrine and practice.ò
4
 This organization aided in the expansion of 

Baptist congregations around the country and later just Pennsylvania, and contributed to the origins of 

institutions of higher education including Brown and Temple Universities. First Baptist Church officially 

separated from Pennepek in 1746.
5
 

 

In 1762, the Philadelphia Baptist Association contained 29 member churches with 1,318 members; by 

1776, the organization contained 42 member churches with 3,103 members; by 1812, Pennsylvania alone 

contained 63 churches and 4,365 members. Between 1790 and 1890, the number of Baptists in the United 

States grew from approximately 65,000 to over 3,700,000 ï which, according to the American Church 

History Series, is population growth four times larger than the rate of growth for the United States as a 

whole.
6
 

 

These early Baptist congregations did not grant African-Americans ï whether enslaved or free ï the same 

rights and responsibilities as white congregants. As a result, thirteen African-American congregants of 

First Baptist Church formed the First African Baptist Church in 1809, and this church was welcomed as a 

member of the Philadelphia Baptist Association that year.
7
 Monumental Baptist Church, the second oldest 

African-American Baptist congregation in the city and the first in West Philadelphia, was founded in 

1826. In 1829, the congregation settled at 41
st
 and Oak (now Ludlow) Streets; their 1882 edifice was 

added to the Philadelphia Register of Historic Places in 2016.
8
 

 

Philadelphia was a hub of Baptist activity through the nineteenth century, being home to a number of 

national Baptist organizations and hosting a number of Baptist conventions and meetings. These 

organizations and meetings included the American Baptist Historical Society, Triennial Conventions, the 

American Baptist Publication Society, and the National Baptist Education Convention. Furthermore, 

Baptists organized a number of philanthropic institutions throughout Philadelphia, including hospitals, 

orphanages, and retirement homes.
9
 

 

The Encyclopedia of Christianity in the United States argues that in the early nineteenth century, 

ñBaptists were continually torn between the popular tendency to centralize, and the inherent instinct to 

retain power in the local church by avoiding ecclesiastical hierarchies.ò
10

 The history of New Tabernacle 

Baptist Church, which follows below, exemplifies this argument, having been formed from a union of 

two Baptist congregations. 
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History of New Tabernacle Baptist Church 

New Tabernacle Baptist Church was formed through the merging of two congregations: Tabernacle 

Baptist Church, located in the Rittenhouse Square neighborhood, and Berean Baptist Church, located at 

40
th
 and Chestnut Streets in West Philadelphia. The story of their consolidation, and the histories of the 

Tabernacle and Berean churches, are highlighted in the congregationôs 1897 Membership Directory of 

New Tabernacle Baptist Church (Membership Directory), printed the same year consolidation took effect. 

This nomination reveals the Membership Directory to be a subjective primary source that embellishes 

and/or omits parts of the story of New Tabernacle Baptist Church altogether, based on reporting in the 

Philadelphia Inquirer and other news outlets. 

 

 

Tabernacle Baptist Church
11

 

The history of Tabernacle Baptist Church is outlined in the inaugural Membership Directory for the New 

Tabernacle Baptist Church. Its story prior to consolidation with Berean Baptist Church is one of ups and 

downs, with inconsistent leadership and unruly financial affairs of the congregation contributing to the 

overall decline in morale and membership of the congregation.  

 

Tabernacle Baptist Church was founded on February 14, 1848 as the first Baptist congregation west of 

Broad Street. The congregation initially met in a Methodist meetinghouse on 17
th
 and Chestnut Streets, 

first renting space and eventually purchasing the building altogether. The first pastor was Rev. Charles 

Tucker, of Jersey Shore, Pa., who served from April 1849 until his death in 1851. 

 

Under the five-year leadership of the following pastor, Rev. Minor G. Clark, D. D., of Springfield, Mass, 

a lot was purchased at 18
th
 and Chestnut Street, where their church, designed by William W. Boyington, 

was built.
12

 While the congregation grew from 96 to 316, a handsome debt of $36,000 was accrued during 

the construction of the church; only $10,000 of this debt was paid off when Rev. Clark left Tabernacle 

Baptist Church in 1856. 
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 Unless otherwise cited, this section is paraphrased from the Membership Directory of the New Tabernacle Baptist 

Church: Together with the Histories of the Tabernacle and Berean Churches Prior to Consolidation (Philadelphia: 

Avil Printing Company, 1897), pages 3-7. 
12

 Philadelphia Architects and Buildings Database, Tabernacle Baptist Church. 



  
Figure 13 (left). Tabernacle Baptist Church, Chestnut Street. [Free Library of Philadelphia Digital Collections] The Free 

Library caption reads ñView showing the church built 1853 after the designs of William Boyington on the 1800 block of Chestnut 

Street. Church contains a tower and spire. A few pedestrians walk on the sidewalk in front of the building that is surrounded by a 

wrought iron fence. Trees adorn the church grounds. The church, razed in 1900, was the only Baptist church situated west of 

Broad Street when completed.ò  

Figure 14 (right): ca. 1854 print showing drawing of New Tabernacle Baptist Church [Jane Campbell Collection, Historical 

Society of Pennsylvania] 

 

While the church ñincreased rapidly in numbers and in power, and $12,000 was raised towards the 

payment of the debtò under the five-year tenure of Rev. William T. Brantly, he ñabruptly resignedò in 

September 1861. The Civil War years saw two pastors, and a sharp decrease in membership and morale.  

 

Under the tenure of Rev. D. C. Eddy, D. D., an organ was installed in the church, further adding to the 

debt. Under the leadership of Rev. George A. Peltz, D. D., of New York, from 1865-1871, ñAll 

departments of church work received a new impulse, the school increased in numbers and efficiency, the 

Young Peopleôs Association was strengthened and many converts were added to the church.ò Most 

importantly, the remaining $15,000 in debt was paid off in full. Rev. Peltz resigned in 1871 to focus on 

Sunday school work, leaving Tabernacle Baptist Church without a pastor for a year-and-a-half. 

 



  
Figure 15 (left): Interior of Tabernacle Baptist Church, 

likely from the Rev. Eddy era. [Jane Campbell Scrapbook 

Collection, Historical Society of Pennsylvania] 

Figure 16 (right): Interior of Tabernacle Baptist Church 

after the organ was installed [Membership Directory of 

New Tabernacle Baptist Church] 

 

 

 

 

From 1872 until the consolidation of Tabernacle Baptist Church, Rev. George E. Rees, of Wales, served 

as pastor of the congregation. Under Reesô tenure, a chapel was built on a donated parcel on Lee Street, 

and improvements were made to the Chestnut Street church. The Membership Directory spares no 

language in highlighting that these improvements were paid off expeditiously. The Directory further 

recalls that ñthe church grew in power and numbersò under Reesô leadership; however, this is a highly 

suspect claim as later on they note that a ñgoodly number of our membersò left to form a Pilgrim church 

at 23
rd
 and Christian Streets. 

  



 

 
Figure 17. Photograph of Rev. George E. Rees, D.D. [Membership Directory of New Tabernacle Baptist Church]  

 

 

Berean Baptist Church
13

 

Berean Baptist Church was founded in 1858 by a group interested in forming a new congregation from 

the First Baptist Church of West Philadelphia. The First Baptist Church of West Philadelphia was 

organized in the early 1840s by William Williams Keen, and others; Rev. Edgar M. Levy served as 

pastor.
14

 In early 1859, the first baptisms of the new congregation, since named Berean Baptist Church, 

were performed in Alliboneôs Woods, a section of land bounded by 42
nd

, 43
rd
, Locust, and Pine Streets.  
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 William Cathcart, D. D., ed., The Baptist Encyclopedia, Vol. 2 (Philadelphia: Louis H. Everts, 1883), 641, 689. 



 
Figure 18. Alliboneôs Woods, depicted by the red outline, as seen in R. L. Binesô Map of the Consolidated City of Philadelphia, 

1855. Source: Greater Philadelphia Geohistory Network. 

 

By the mid-nineteenth century, West Philadelphia was beginning its transformation from a wealthy, rural 

country retreat ñwithout municipal controlò, to a middle-class streetcar suburb; by 1851, its population 

had reached 11,000.
15

 The following map from 1849, five years prior to Philadelphiaôs consolidation, 

shows the increasing density of the pink shaded area east of 41
st
 Street, then known as Hamiltonville, 

compared to the remainder of West Philadelphia. The Woodlands Cemetery and Blockley Almshouse are 

visible on the southeast edge, and the Pennsylvania Hospital Building is to the northwest.  
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 National Register of Historic Places, West Philadelphia Streetcar Suburb Historic District, Philadelphia, 

Pennsylvania, National Register #97001669. 



 
Figure 19. Portion of Map of Blockley Township, by Rea and Miller, 1849. The location of Berean Baptist Church, and later New 

Tabernacle Baptist Church, is still undeveloped land at this point, although development is encroaching on all sides approaching 

the parcel on Chestnut Street. 

 

Shortly after this map was published, Hamilton Terrace, the Hamilton Family Estate, and Woodland 

Terrace were developed.
16

 These three enclaves are among the earliest examples of residential speculation 

in West Philadelphia, intended for an upper-class clientele. The pioneering congregations to settle in West 

Philadelphia around this time, including Roman Catholic, Quaker, Episcopal, and Presbyterian 

denominations meetinghouses, would have catered to ï or been started by ï residents of these early 

developments. 

 

Berean Baptist Church, and by default New Tabernacle Baptist Church, would not have been located at its 

Chestnut Street location if not for the generosity of Captain John P. Levy, brother of Rev. Edgar Levy.
17
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 National Register of Historic Places, West Philadelphia Streetcar Suburb Historic District, Philadelphia, 

Pennsylvania, National Register #97001669. 
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 Captain John Levyôs house was located at 40
th
 and Pine Streets and was listed in the Philadelphia Register of 

Historic Places in 1973. However, the University of Pennsylvania, the owner of the property, was granted 

permission by the Historical Commission to demolish the structure and did so in 2015. 



Captain Levy spent his career as a seaman and shipbuilder; he co-founded lucrative ship-building firm 

Reaney, Neafie & Levy in 1845.
18

 Captain Levy, who was baptized by his brother, purchased a lot of land 

on the 4000 block of Chestnut Street for the purpose of building Berean Baptist Church. Captain Levy 

personally funded the construction of the church, which opened in 1860, and an adjacent parsonage. 

Levyôs total contributions to the congregation amounted to nearly $35,000 at the time, and he donated the 

deed to Berean Baptist Church in October 1863. 

 

 
Figure 20. Undated photograph of Berean Baptist Church [Membership Directory of New Tabernacle Baptist Church]  

 

The church was designed in the Romanesque style by a ñMr. D. S. Gendell, architect,ò and Reaney, Nefie 

& Co. provided the cast-iron spire; the spire was reported by the Public Ledger as being ña novelty, and 

will doubtless attract much attention.ò
19

 The noted architect refers to David S. Gendell, who apprenticed 

with Thomas Ustick Walter, and then went into practice with his father, a carpenter/builder, at 5
th
 and 

Chestnut Streets.
20

 

 

Having only been built four years after Tabernacle Baptist Church, the designs of the two churches 

provide insight into the architectural taste of Philadelphiaôs mid-nineteenth century Baptist congregations. 

While Tabernacle was designed in the Classical Revival style and Berean was in the Romanesque style, 
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 William Cathcart, D. D., ed., The Baptist Encyclopedia, Vol. 2 (Philadelphia: Louis H. Everts, 1883), 690; 
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 A New Church, The Philadelphia Public Ledger, May 5, 1859, p. 1. 
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 Sandra Tatman, ñDavid Smith Gendell (1839-1925),ò Philadelphia Architects and Buildings Database. 



they both featured central towers with massive spires that provide a dramatic focal point; Berean boasted 

a 160 foot tower and spire while Tabernacle boasted a 212 foot tall steeple.
21

 Similarly, First Baptist 

Church, West Philadelphia, whose edifice on 36
th
 and Chestnut Streets was constructed from 1860-1863, 

was designed by Samuel Sloan in the Norman style and featured a gabled front and adjacent 170-foot 

tower.
22

 Interestingly, the Berean Baptist Church building is labeled in the 1862 Samuel Smedley Atlas of 

the City of Philadelphia, while First Baptist Church West Philadelphia and Monumental Baptist Church 

are not, despite their building footprints being present on the map and these congregations being older 

than Berean Baptist Church.
23

 Taking into account that African-American institutions were likely omitted 

from such documents, it perhaps reveals the degree of prominence of Berean Baptist Church in 

comparison to First Baptist Church, West Philadelphia. 

 

  
Figure 21. Extracts from 1862 Smedley Atlas of Philadelphia showing unlabeled locations of Monumental Baptist Church and 

First Baptist Church, West Philadelphia, and labeled location of Berean Baptist Church, a comparatively younger congregation 

at the time. [Greater Philadelphia Geohistory Network] 

Rev. Edgar Levy served as pastor of Berean Baptist Church from 1868-1884. During this time, Baptist 

activity expanded in West Philadelphia with the founding of the Mantua Baptist Church by former Berean 

congregants. In 1890, Powelton Avenue Church merged with the Berean congregation. According to 

newspaper reports, Berean would only accept the consolidation if Powelton were to join Berean, and not 

vice-versa.
24

 When the Powelton church met to discuss the merger, the Philadelphia Times noted that 

Berean ñhas a small congregation, but a handsome building, free of debt.ò
25

 

 

 

Consolidation, but with whom? 

In 1893, discussions began regarding the consolidation of Tabernacle Baptist Church with the First 

Baptist Church, by this time located at Broad and Arch Streets, and with Beth Eden Baptist Church, at 

Broad and Spruce Streets. This dialogue was not uncommon among the Baptist community at the time. 

                                                           
21

 J. Thomas Scharf and Thompson Westcott, History of Philadelphia, 1609-1884, Vol. 3 (Philadelphia: L. H. Everts 

& Co., 1884), 1752. 
22

 ñNew Church in West Philadelphia,ò The Philadelphia Public Ledger, June 12, 1860, 1; ñFirst Baptist Church, 

West Philadelphia,ò The Philadelphia Inquirer, April 6, 1863, 8. A lithograph of First Baptist Church, West 

Philadelphia can be accessed digitally or at the Historical Society of Pennsylvania, call number HSP Bc 13 W 519. 
23

 Smedley map 
24

 ñThey Favor the Union,ò Philadelphia Times, February 25, 1890, 3. 
25

 ñBaptist Churches Unite,ò The Philadelphia Times, March 4, 1890, 1. 

Monumental 

Baptist Church 

Berean Baptist 

Church (labeled) 
First Baptist Church, 

West Philadelphia 



Berean Baptist Church was already familiar with such a strategy, having just consolidated with Powelton 

Baptist Church. And, on April 23, 1893, Rev. Frank M. Goodman of the Spruce Street Baptist Church 

was recorded as stating in a sermon that ñWe must use business judgment in management of church 

affairs. A railroad will not run óempties.ô No more should a religious denomination. It would be to the 

interest of all concerned if in some districts consolidation of churches of the same faith could be effected 

and a great church be established there instead of having several struggling small ones. Money would be 

saved instead of wasted and efficiency increased.ò
26

 

 

According to newspaper reports, Tabernacle, First Baptist, and Beth Eden Baptistôs congregations were 

losing membership for churches located in more desirable areas.
27

 Furthermore, Beth Eden Baptist 

Church had suffered a fire in 1881 and was left without a building and a pastor. Beth Eden and First 

Baptist already had a symbiotic relationship, each hosting the other when their buildings were under 

renovation (or in the case of Beth Eden, burned). The congregations felt their locations were undesirable 

and out-of-place in Philadelphiaôs emerging central business district. As written in First Baptist Churchôs 

bicentennial history, 

 

ñOwing to the fact that both of these churches, as well as the Tabernacle Baptist Church, at 

Eighteenth and Chestnut Streets, were central in location, all three began to feel the disintegration 

which always, in time, attacks a central city church. The members move into the suburbs, 

business encroaches on the resident area around it, and so, by an inexorable law of city 

development, all three churches were waning from a gradual but steady loss of membership.ò
28

 

 

Nothing else on the consolidation subject was reported until 1894, when meetings among representatives 

of the three churches were described by the Philadelphia Inquirer. In November of that year, The 

Philadelphia Times reported on a meeting attended by 250 parishioners of the three churches. Earlier that 

year, a joint committee was established, a report created on the state of the congregations, and Articles of 

Agreement were drafted.
29

 The committee, which was sharing the results of their findings with the 

congregations, remarked in their report that ñRev. Dr. Rees, who has been the prime mover, has exhibited 

the utmost degree of foresight, magnamity and self-forgetfulness.ò
30

 Confusingly, however, the article 

reported on a potential ñcolony,ò or new church, led by Rev. Rees, to come out of this consolidation. The 

article elaborated that a sum of $100,000 would be given to  

 

ñmembers of the Consolidated Church, not less than 75 in number, who may desire to form a new 

churchéand shall be used only for the erection of buildings and the support of this new Baptist 

church. This new body shall be a colony from the Consolidated Church. Such a new church 

seems very desirable from a broad view of the best interests of the denomination at large.ò
31
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Many questions arise from this proposal: how would Rev. Rees be active in both the consolidated church 

and the colony church? What are his motives? How would creating a colony church be different from 

maintaining either two or three existing Baptist congregations? 

 

Ultimately, these questions would not have to be answered. Less than one month later, Berean Baptist 

Church called upon Rev. Rees to serve as their pastor. He quickly accepted this offer, throwing a wrench 

in the plans to consolidate with First Baptist and Beth Eden Baptist. As narrated in the 1897 Membership 

Directory, 

 

ñOn December 19, 1894, a call was extended to Rev. George E. Rees, pastor of the Tabernacle 

Baptist Church, Eighteenth and Chestnut Streets. The giving of this call opened the question of 

the consolidation of the Tabernacle and Berean churches, and after conferences covering several 

months had taken place, articles of agreement were adopted April 15, 1895, which brought about 

the union of the two churches under the name of the New Tabernacle Baptist Church of 

Philadelphia. This closed the history of the Berean Church.ò
32

 

 

The Membership Directory does not include any references to potentially consolidating with First Baptist 

or Beth Eden, even though those conversations occurred for over a year. However, local papers continued 

to report on the state of affairs between the three, now four, congregations. Excerpts include the 

following: 

 

December 1894: ñRev. Dr. George E. Reesô acceptance of the call to the pastorate of the Berean 

Baptist Church, where he will preach his first sermon on the second Sunday in January, will open 

the way for the long-talked-of consolidation of the three congregations in the centre of the cityò
33

 

 

January 1895: ñThe members of Tabernacle Church, who originally expected to join in the 

consolidation formed by the other two churches, has withdrawn with the idea of forming a 

consolidation with the Berean Church, Fortieth and Chestnut streetséThe congregation passed a 

resolution to sell the property in view of the proposed consolidation with Bereanò
34

 

 

August 1895: ñIn the gradual development of the consolidation scheme between the Berean and 

Tabernacle Baptist ChurcheséSuch of the congregation of the Tabernacle as do not migrate to 

West Philadelphia when the arrangement between the churches is completed, will, it is expected, 

unite with the First Church, at Broad and Arch streetsò
35

 

 

On September 2, 1895, formal applications were made in court to merge the two congregations.
36

 Shortly 

after, New Tabernacle Baptist Church retained architect Frank Watson to design their new building to 

replace the existing 1859 structure at 40
th
 and Chestnut. The Philadelphia Real Estate Record and 

Builderôs Guide (PRERBG) outlines the design process of the churchôs construction from beginning to 

end. The PRERBG records for New Tabernacle Baptist Church can be found in Appendix A. 
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The initial plans for the church were reported as follows, in October 1895: 

 

The foundation walls of the new Tabernacle Baptist Church, Chestnut Street, west of Fortieth, it 

is thought, will be laid before the Winter sets in. Contractors are now bidding on the work. The 

building will probably be ready for occupancy next September. The church will be built in Gothic 

style. It will have a 90-foot front on Chestnut Street. Octagonal turrets will rise upwards of 80 

feet at each corner, and in the centre will be a large tracery window. Triple doorways, deeply 

recessed, will lead into a hallway, 20 x 27 feet. A vestibule on the right and left leads to the 

lecture hall in the second story, capable of seating 700 persons. The hall will open into a corridor, 

15 x 24 feet, which leads to the main building. On each side of the corridor will be rooms, with a 

seating capacity for 200 persons. The auditorium will be amphitheatrical, and capable of seating 

1000 persons. The arch over the pulpit, an important feature, will be deeply recessed, and 

ornamented with columns with foliated capitals. The arch will be flanked on the right by the 

organ arch and on the left by baptistry arch. Frank R. Watson, architect, 518 Walnut Street, 

prepared the planséò 

 

 
Figure 22. Depiction of New Tabernacle Baptist Church as printed in the Philadelphia Inquirer the morning after the 

cornerstone was laid. 

According to Frank Watsonôs specifications, the stone and brick from Berean Baptist Church was to be 

salvaged and reused in the construction of New Tabernacle Baptist Church, except for salmon brick. 

Watson also stated in his specifications that ñAll workmanship to be the best known in the trade, and all 

materials to be strictly first class.ò
37

 In a later amendment to the specifications, the price of a chosen tile is 

changed so the overall price is lowered to $0.50 from $1.25 ïa budget-saving move but one that also 

indicates to the modern historian and consumer the high quality of materials Watson intended to choose 

for the congregation. A full set of original drawings of the church can be found at the Historical Society 
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of Pennsylvania, call number Bc 615/W 333 TB. A selection of the drawings can be found in Appendix 

B, and the architectôs specifications can be found at Appendix C. 

 

 
Figure 23. Original architectural drawing of New Tabernacle Baptist Church, signed by Frank Watson. [Historical Society of 

Pennsylvania] 

Though the University City Historical Society could not access the inside of the building, it appears the 

plans were built as described: the amphitheatrical seating, organ, and baptistry woodwork survive today, 

as seen in images on Christ Community Churchôs website: 

 



 
Figure 24. Interior of New Tabernacle Baptist Church auditorium, featuring a ñdeeply recessedò arch over the pulpit, 

amphitheatrical seating, foliated capitals, organ, and baptistry. [Christ Community Church website, https://www.cccphila.org 

 

The cornerstone was laid on May 6, 1896 and was attended ñnot only by the members various 

congregations in West Philadelphia but by the pastors of numerous churches, both in the city and West 

Philadelphia.ò
38

 The building opened on March 10, 1897 and was reported to have cost $113,586, 

$76,000 of which was paid by opening day.
39
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Figure 25. Photograph of New Tabneracle Baptist Church, soon before construction was completed (note unfinished stained 

glass windows in octagonal towers). [Historical Society of Pennsylvania, Frank Watson portfolio] 

 

While the Philadelphia Inquirer reported that ñmany of the old members of Tabernacle Church remainedò 

for consolidation, First Baptist Church recalled in an 1898 publication that ñDuring this year we also had 

a large accession from the Tabernacle School, as their removal to West Philadelphia made it most 

inconvenient for many to go with them. Earnest Christian fellow-laborers are they !ò
40

 What is officially 

published in the Membership Directory, but not calculated as a statistic, are the members of the church in 

1897. Indeed, rough calculations show that over 2/3 of the congregants were native to West Philadelphia. 

It comes down to a matter of convenience: congregants in Center City may not have wanted to travel to 

West Philadelphia to worship when congregations were abundant all around them ï including the newly-

merged First Baptist Church. 

 

By the time New Tabernacle Baptist Church opened, institutions such as the University of Pennsylvania 

had moved to West Philadelphia, streetcar lines had opened, and speculators were setting their sights on 

undeveloped land around and further west from the church. However, ñAs speculative building practices 

evolved, so did the demographics of the inhabitants who were purchasing the houses. These less elaborate 

and more compact houses strictly appealed to the middle class. However, despite the mass of speculative 
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middle class housing that was being erected, a number of Philadelphia's families of wealth continued to 

choose West Philadelphia as the location for their estates.ò
41

 This very well justifies why Rev. Rees 

wished to move to West Philadelphia, as opposed to remaining between the rivers ï there remained a 

consistently growing and diverse population of potential congregants, unlike Center Cityôs already 

established, and in some cases dwindling, congregations. 

 

New Tabernacle Baptist Church and Chestnut Street Baptist Church in the 20
th
 Century 

Rev. Rees retired in 1909.
42

 On January 29, 1910, the Philadelphia Inquirer reported, 

 

ñHistoric churches of this city that have enjoyed a wide reputation will hold farewell services 

tomorrow and on Sunday, February 6, will combine and will be known as the Chestnut Street 

Baptist Church. The churches are the Epiphany and the New Tabernacle Baptist Churches.ò 

 

Epiphany Baptist Church was formerly known as the First Baptist Church of West Philadelphia, 

mentioned previously in this nomination as having given rise to Berean Baptist Church. On their fiftieth 

anniversary in 1898, the congregation changed their name to Epiphany Baptist.
43

 As such, in April, 1910, 

the title was officially transferred from New Tabernacle Baptist Church to Chestnut Street Baptist Church  

for ña consideration said to be nominal.ò
44

 In this sense, for the Levy brothers at least, things came full 

circle as the two congregations they helped lead had come together. 

 

Chestnut Street Baptist Church operated out of 4017-21 Chestnut Street until 2004. In the late twentieth 

century, the church was integral in resettling refugees from Laos, Cambodia, and Vietnam in the West 

Philadelphia community. The church hosted ESL classes, accepted donations of furniture and other goods 

for the refugees.
45

 The church also hosted classical concerts of the University of Pennsylvaniaôs university 

choir. In 2004, the congregation closed and sold the building to what is now Christ Community Church. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(d) Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style or engineering specimen 

 

New Tabernacle Baptist Church is a well-preserved example of the Gothic Revival style. Gothic Revival 

was one of the most important architectural styles to emerge in the United States during the Victorian 

period, not only for religious structures, but also for residential, educational, and institutional uses. 

 

The Gothic Revival emerged as a call for the romantic and picturesque in a quickly industrializing era.  

Gothic architectural historian Phoebe Stanton wrote that ñThe wish to copy Gothic architecture and the 
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thoughts about building which developed as a result were singularly expressive of the respect and 

nostalgia for the past which were characteristic of the nineteenth century.ò
46

 Augustus Charles Pugin and 

his son Augustus Welby Northmore Pugin were among the first proselytizers of the Gothic revival, 

publishing Specimens of Gothic Architecture (1821), Examples of Gothic Architecture (1838), Contrasts 

(1836), and The True Principles of Pointed or Christian Architecture (1841). These works by the Pugins 

brought scale drawings to a mass audience as well as persuasive arguments for using the Gothic.
47

 

Furthermore, the Gothic style was seen as anti-industrial; Gothic enthusiasts such as John Ruskin argued 

against machine-made building materials, stating ñThere are two reasons, both weighty, against this 

practice: one, that all cast and machine work is bad, as work; the other, that it is dishonest.ò
48

 To Ruskin 

and his contemporaries, Gothic architecture was solid: it revealed the true form of a structure without the 

veneers and inauthentic finishes that characterized Classical Revival architecture. 

 

Nineteenth century religious institutions in particular were attracted to Gothic architecture because ñthey 

believed its formal, ñchurchlyò style conveyed a sense of permanence and prestige. Even Protestant 

denominations that had once been deeply suspicious of Catholic forms and elaborate decoration embraced 

the movement, appropriating stylistic elements that had previously aroused passionate opposition.ò
49

 

While utilizing Gothic architecture once implied   

 

Stanton observed that ñGothic revivalism arrived in North America in the form of the English Gothic 

revival, with its preference for the English medieval parish church as a model for ecclesiastical 

architecture.ò
50

 In Philadelphia, this can be seen in the Church of Saint James the Less, constructed in 

1846. The English parish style of Gothic Revival proved to be a good match for the bucolic suburban 

setting of the Chestnut Hill neighborhood. 
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Figure 26. Saint James the Less, built in 1846 after Saint Michaelôs Church, Cambridgeshire. An example of the picturesque, 

parish revival that characterized early Gothic Revival. [Library of Congress] 

Only one year later, John Notman designed Saint Markôs Episcopal Church. This took a more high Gothic 

revival style on a larger and more urban parcel. 

 
Figure 27. Saint Markôs Episcopal Church, 16th and Locust Streets, constructed 1847-1849.[Library of Congress] 

 


